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Appendix 4 Jill 25 ffiSUNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT 
EASTERN DISTRICT OF VIRGINIA 

Newport News Division CLsaMSnSrsScoiwi
seT-reK.yn

JAMES BF,GGS and 
JOYCE BEGGS,

Plaintiffs,

ACTION NO. 4:17cvl 10v.

AMERICAN BANKERS INSURANCE 
COMPANY OF FLORIDA d/b/a ASSURANT el al„

Defendants.

DISMISSAL ORDER

This maaer is before the Court on the following motions fiicd by pro se Plaintiffs James 

Bcggs and Joyce Bcggs [collectively "Plaintiffs), Defendant American Bankets 
Company of Florida d/b/a Assurant f American Bankers"), Defendant GEICO Insurance Agency 
("GE1CO"), and Defendant Cunningham Lindsey U.S. Inc. (“Cunningbam Lindsey”) (collectively 

"Defendants”):

Insurance

11} American Hankers' Motion to Dismiss, ECF No. 56;
(2) Cunningham Lindsey's Motion to Dismiss, ECF No. 58;
(3) GElCO’s Motion to Dismiss, ECF No. 54; and
(4) Plaintiffs’ “Motion to Quash Defendants’ Motions to Dismiss 

Plaintiffs’ Second Amended Motion for Judgment [of] Bad 
Faith” (“Motion to Quash"), ECF No. 62.

The Court concludes that ora! argument is unnecessary because the Taels and legal

For the reasons set forth below,argiirnents arc adequately presented in the parties briefs.

Plaintiffs’ Motion to Quash. ECF No. 62, is DISMISSED: American Bankers’ Motion to
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Dismiss, ECF No. 56, is GRANTED; Cunningham Lindsey's Motion to Dismiss, ECF No, 58, 

is GRANTED; and GEiCO’s Motion to Dismiss, EOF No. 54, is GRANTED.

I. Relevant Procedural Background

Pi(umi£& initiated tins action on September 11,2017, by paying die requisite fees and 

filing a document tilted, “Motion for JudgQment Bad Faith,” Much the Court construed 

Plaintiffs’ Complaint See Compl., ECF No. 1; Receipt, ECF No. 1-7. Before any Defendant 

appeared in this action, Plaintiffs filed a document tided, “Amended Motion for Judg[]ment Bad 

Faith," which foe Court construed as Plaintiffs’ Amended Complaint See Am. Compl., ECF

as

No. 8.

All Defendants moved to dismiss Plaintiffs’ Amended Complaint See American 

Bankas’ Mot Dismiss, ECF No. 12; Cunningham Lindsey’s Mot Dismiss, ECF No. 15; 

GEiCO’s Mot Dismiss, ECF No. 24. In response to Defendants’ dismissal motions, Plaintiffs 

filed oppositions (“Oppositions") that contained fectual allegations and legal claims that were not 

raised in their Amended Complaint. See Order at 4, ECF No. 42; Opp’ns, ECF Nos. 20,27,35.

' In an Order dated August 2,2018, foe Court explained that a litigant cannot amend a complaint 

via ae opposition to a dismissal motion. See Order at 4. However, in deference to Plaintiffs 

pro se status, Ae Court granted Plaintiffs leave to file a Second Amended Coinpiair.i, and 

dismissed foe pending Motions to Dismiss as moot-1 U. at 4-5,

1 Plaintiffs paid the filings fees when they initiated this action, Plaintift were 
responsible for effecting service on Defendants. In its August 2,2018 Order, foe Court indicated 
that, “despite Plaintiffs’ efforts, it [did] not appear that Defendants ha[d] been properly served with 
process in this action.” Order at 5, ECF No. 42. To assist Plaintiffs, who are appearaigpro re, 
foe Court ordered counsel for Defendants to indicate “whether he or foe (was) authonaed to accept 
and/or waive sendee on behalf of his or herrcspecflve client" Id. All Defendants subsequently 
agreed to waive service. See Wavers, ECF Nos, 51-53.

2
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Plaintiffs subsequently filed a document titled, “Second Amended Motion for Judgment 

Bad Faith,” which the Court construes as Plaintiffs’ Second Amended Complaint See Second 

Am, Compl, ECF No. 46. On November 2,2018, each Defendant filed a Motion to Dismiss, 

and provided Plaintiffs with a proper Rosebtm Notice pursuant to Rule 7(K) of the Local Civil 

Rules of the United Sates District Court for the Eastern District of Virginia, See GEICO’s 

Mot, Dismiss, ECF No. 54; American Bankers’ Mot Dismiss, ECF No. 56; Ciam'mgham 

Lindsey’s Mot Dismiss, ECF No. 58; Cunningham Lindsey’s Rosebrn Notice, ECF No. 60; 

E.D. Va. Lot Civ. R. 7(K). On November 14, 2018, Plaintiffs filed a Motion to Quash, which 

despite its title, is dearly intended to save as Plaint®’ opposition to die three Motions to 

Dismiss. See Mot Quash, ECF No. 62, Each Defendant construed Plaintiffs’ Motion to 

Quash as an opposition to the Motions to Dismiss, and each Defendant filed a reply brief within 

days of Plaintiffs’ filing.1 See American Bankas’ Reply, ECF No. 63; GEICO’s Reply, 

ECF No. 64; Cunningham Lindsey’s Reply, ECF No. 65. Plaintiffs also filed a document titled 

“Plaintiffs’ Reply in Support of Morion for Judgment on Plain®’ Pleading,” which appears to 

be an unauthorized suneply (“SuiTeply”), and a separate attachment (Submission”).3 See 

Suneply, ECF No. 66; Submission, ECF No- 67. In deference to Plaintiffs’ pro st status, the

seven

3 As noted above, die Court construes Plaintiffs’Morion to Quash as sb opposition to the
Morions to Dismiss, rather titan a separate motion. Accordingly, for administrative purposes, the 
Court DISMISSES Plaint®’ Motion to Quash. However, the Court has considered this filing in 
its analysis of die pending dismissal motions.

3 Pursuantto Rule 7(F)(1) of the Local Civil Rules for the United States District Court for 
the Eastern District ofVirginie, after a non-moving party files a brief in opposition to an opposing 
party’s motion, the moving party may file a reply brief within six calendar days. See EJD. Va. 
Loc. Civ. R. 7(F)(1). “No further briefs or written communications may be filed without firet 
obtaining leave of Court” Id
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Coat accepts Plaintiffs’ filings, and has considered them in its analysis of the pending motions. 

Defendants’ Motions to Dismiss are ripe for decision.

II, Plaintiffs' Factual Allegations

In that Second Amended Complaint, Plaintiffs allege that they own a home located at 

312 South Willard Avenue in Htunpton, Virginia, that suffered Hood damage during Hunicane 

Matthew in 2016.4 See Second Am. Compl. at 5, ECF No. 46. Specifically, Plaintiff; allege 

that the stoan flooded the “way low-lying back of their Home, which includes thdr Kitchen, 

Ciandchitdl’s) Bedroom, Bathroom, and Heating Room, along with alt Heating Dac(t]s, Piets 

and Decks of the Plaintiffs’ Home.” Id Plaintiffs forte allege that they were issued a 

Standard Flood Insurance Polity puisuant to flic National Flood Insurance Progam, and sought 

to recover under the polity for their flood-related expenses, fiat 5,13.

Plaintiffs identify themselves as a “Mixed-Race Couple," and indicate that they hang 

pictures of their fevorite “Presidents, Senators), and Governors” on the walls of thdr tome. 

Id at 8,22. Plaintiffs appear to allege drat ‘Defendants’ Inspectors,” who visited Plaintiffs’ 

home to assess the damage, disagreed with Plain tiffs’ interracial relationship and political views 

end, as a result, felted to provide Plaintiffs with a “fair settlement" for then flood damage. Id. 

at 8,22,25.

Plaintiffs further allege drat they required assistance from Defendants to complete Proof 

of Loss forms for their flood damage claims.5 id. at 13,15. Although Defendants assisted by

4 The Court finds drat the factual allegations and legal theories in Plaintiffs' Second 
Amended Complaint are difficult to decipher.

5 As set forth in more detail tote, Plaintiffs’ flood insurance policy requires them to 
submit a signed and sworn Proof of Liras form within a certain number of days of a covered loss. 
See infra Pert IILB.
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providing two Proof of Loss forms for Plaintiffs’ use in submitting their claims, Plaintiffs state 

that they “could not sign (the) documents" because they disagreed with the value references 

included therein. Id. at 11,18-19, 26, 28. Specifically, Plaintiffs claim that Defendants 

undervalued their home on the Proof of Loss forms.6 Id. Plaintiffs further claim that 

Defendants (i) denied them “Emergency Assistance,” which forced Plaintiffs to obtain bank 

loans and to use their credit cards to finance the needed repairs; and (ii) failed to provide them 

with“fondingtoreplace Plaintiffs’ Personal Items.”’ Id. at 12-13,17,

Plaintiffs do not clearly specify the causes of action that they seek to assert against 

Defendants. However, their Second Amended Complaint contains references to breach of 

oontract, negligence, due process violations, discrimination, 42 U.S.C. § 1983, violations of 

Federal Emergency Management Agency (“FEMa") regulations, violations of die National 

Flood Insurance Act (“NF1A"), retaliation, violations of insurance regulations, violations of the 

Revised Uniform Partnership Act (“RUPA"), and violations of the McCanan-Faguson Act Id. 

at7-IO,13, 15-16,18-21,24-26.

As relief, Plaintiffs ask the Court to impose a ‘‘Fair Settlement" in the amount of 

$17,000.00 on Claim No. 720859866664; $25,000.00 on Claim No, 720859852303; and 

$10,000.09 for the “Denial of Emergency Assistance.” Id. at 5, 30-31. Additionally,

6 Plaintiffs attached two incomplete, unsigned Proof of Loss forms to their Second 
Amended Complaint that Plaintiffs appear to claim were provided by Cunningham Lindsey. One 
form involves aclaim of “Flood" loss that occurred on September 3,2016 (“September 2016 Proof 
of Loss”), and lists an “ACTUAL CASH VALUE of building structures” as $45,932.90. 
See Sept 2016 Proof Loss, ECF No, 46-2. The other form involves a clam of“Water/Flood" loss 
that occurred on October 7,2016 (“October 2016 Proof of Loss”), and lists an “ACTUAL CASH 
VALUE of building structures" as $37,329.92. See Oct 2016 Proof Loss, ECF No. 46-1.

’ Plaintiffs fail to clearly identify the roles allegedly played by each Defendant in this 
action, and appear to attribute the alleged wrongdoings to all Defendants.

5
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Plaintiffs request £200,000.00 to allow than to “fejcvale their home to prevent future flooding" 

53,000.00 for “Legal Fees;” ami “up to $200,000.00 in Punitive Damages.”8 Id. at 5-6,20, 

2648,30-31.

IH. Motions to Dismiss

A. Standard of Review Under Federal Rule 12/W61 

Defendants seek dismissal of this action pursuant to Rule 12(bX6) of the Federal Rules of 

Civil Procedure. A motion to dismiss under Ride 12(bX6) should be pnted if a oompiaint 

fails to “allege facts to state a claim to relief ftat is plausible on its faceBell Ail. Corp. v. 

Twembfy, 550 U.S. 544, 570 (2007). A Rule 12(b)(6) motion “tests to sufficiency of a 

complaint and 'does not resolve contests surrounding to facts, to merits of s claim, or the 

applicability of defenses,” Johnson v. Portfolio Recovery Assocs., LLC, 682 F. Supp. 2d 560, 

567 (E.D. Va. 2009) (quoting Republican Party qfN.C. v. Marlin, 980 F.2d 943,952 (4dt Cir. 

1992)), The Court must accept all factual allegations contained in Plaintiffs' Second Amended 

Complaint as tree, and draw all reasonable inferences in favor of Plaintiffs. Id. "Although to 

truth of to facts alleged is assumed, courts are not bound fay to 'legal conclusions drawn from

to fbete’ and 'need not accept as true unwanaoted inferences, unreasonable conclusions, or

aigumeats.’” Id. (dtations omitted). In ruling on Defendants’ morions, the Court may rely 

upon to allegations of Plaintiffs’ Second Amended Complaint, as well as documents attached as 

exhibits or incorporated therein by reference. See Simons v. Montgomery Cty. Police Officers, 

762 F2d 30,31 (4th Cir. 1985).

8 Plaintiffs also appear to request injunctive relief pursuant to 42 U.S.C. § 2OD0a-3(a). 
See Second Am. Compl. at 21, ECF No. 46. This Salute, however, relates to claims of alleged 
discrimination in places of “public accommodation,” and is inapplicable to to factual claims 
alleged by Plaintiffs in this action. See i£ see also 42 U.S.C. §§ 2000a-3(a), 2000a(a).
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B. The National Flood insurance Program

Plaintiffs seek to recover certain flood-related expenses pursuant to a Standard Flood 

Im Policy (“SFIP") that was issued to them pursuant to die National Flood Insurance 

Program rNFin &eSecondAm.Compl.at5,13,ECFNo.46. The MF!P was established 

by Congress under the National Flood Insurance Act (“NFIA”) “in order to mate flood tnamnoe 

available fiom the federal government on reasonable terms and conditions.” Davis v.

. HUomkk Mat. Firt Im. Co„ 783 F. Supp. 2d 825, 831 (ED. Va. 2011); see also 42 U.S.C. 

§§4001 elstq. The United States Court of Appeals for the Fourth Circuit has summarized the 

NRP as follows:

Under the (NF1P), flood insurance is sold to qualified applicants 
either directly by FEMA or by private insurance companies known 
as “write-yoUr-own’' (sometimes, “WYO”) companies. 44 C.FJt 
§6223; These companies enter into a standardized agreement 
with FEMA that authorizes the private company to issue flood 
insurance in its own name ami assigns the company responsibility 
for the “the adjustment, settlement, payment and defense of all 
claims arising fiom policies of flood insurance it issues under flic 
Program.” Id. § 62.23(d). The ultimate responsibility for 
paying ail claims and related expenses, however, rests with FEMA.
See 2U.S.C.§ 4017(a).

Woodson v. Allslal* Im. Co, 855 F-3d 628,631(4* Cir. 2017).

The tarns and oonditions oT flic SFIP “are fixed by FEMA” and “do (tot vary whether the 

policy is marketed by FEMA or a WYO company.”9 Maxell v. Comparer Sets. Corp., 457 F. 

Supp. gd 571,574 (D. Md. 2006); see dso Woodson, 855 F.3d at 631 (noting that “Itjhe terms 

and conditions of a National Flood Insurance Policy are specified by regulation”); see also

CP.R.pt6l,App.A0).
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Dm, 783 F. Sapp. U a 831 {explaining that“all policies isstad wider the NFIP must be issued 

using the lams and conditions of the Stand®! Rood Insurance Policy (SR?)”).

Under the SF1P, an insured must satisfy “a number of preconditions" prior to “collecting 

on a claim.*’ Moffett, 457 F. Supp. 2d at 574. The precondition considered to be “the most 

important’ is the requirement to file “a proper ‘proof of loss’ within 60 days of the flood loss, in 

which the insured mast give detailed written notice identifying die property damaged, how and 

when As damage occulted, and the property’s value.” M The SfiP states.

J Requirements in Case of Loss 

In case of a flood loss to insured property, you must

4. Within 60 days after the loss, send us a proof of loss, 
which is your statement of the amount you are claiming under Die 
polity signed and sworn to by you, and which furnishes us with the 
following information:

a. The date aid time of loss;

fa, A brief explanation of how die loss happened;

c. Your interest (for example, “owner! and 4c interest, if 
any, of others in the damaged property;

d. Details of any other insurance that may cover the loss;

e. Changes in title or occupancy of the cowed property 
during the term of the policy,

f. Specifications of damaged buildings and detailed repair 
estimates;

Names of mortgagees or anyone else having a lira, charge, 
or claim against the insured property,

h, Details about who occupied any insured building at the
time of loss and for what purpose; and

g-
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i, Tbe inventory of danapd personal property described in 
JJ. above.

5. In completing die proof of loss, pi mi® use youtown 
judgment concerning the amount of loss and justify dm amount

44C.FJt.pt. 61, App. M)\ Art. V!I(J).

The SFIP makes it clear that the responsibility of complex the proof of loss fbmt lies 

Moffett, 457 F. St#. 2d at 574 {citing 44 C.F.R. pt 61, A#. A(l),witii to insured.

Art,Vfl(JX5),{7)>(8)). The SFIP stales;

The insurance adjuster whom we hire to investigate your claim 
may famish you with a proof of loss form, and to or he may help 
you complete it However, fail is a matter of courtesy only, 
and you must still send ns a proof of faMWtM°60 debater

you complete it

44 CM pt 61, App. A(l), Art VIKJX7) (emphasis added).

Notably, to SFIP provides that to policy “cannot be changed nor can any of its

written consent of to Federal insuranceprovisions be waived without to express 

Administrator." 44CM.pl 61, App. A(l),AitVH{D).

The SFIP also indudes a preempt# clause, which state: ‘This policy and ai! disputes 

arising tat the handling of any dam under the policy we governed exclusively by to flood 

regulations issued by FEMA, to National Flood Insurance Act of 1968, as amended 

(42 U.S.C. § 4001, er seq.\ and Federal common law." 44 CM pt 61. App. A(l). Art. IX,

set also Woodson, 855 F.3d at 631.

C. American Bankers’ MotimBtBissia

In its Motion to Dismiss, American Bankets explains tot it is a WYO Company that 

See Urn Supp. American Bankers’ Mot Dismiss at 4-7, ECF

No.5). American Bankers farther cxplains,es noted above, that

insurance

issued a SFIP to Plaintiffs.
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All SFIPs, die (Plaintiffs’! SFIP, indude the requirement 
that, in the event of a loss, the insured must submit to the WYO 
Company a timely, signed and swim Proof of Loss stating the total 
amount bang claimed, along with an inventory of damaged 
property showing the quantity, description, actual cadi value, and 

of loss, accompanied by all bills, receipts, and relatedamount 
documents.

Id. at 8 (emphasis in original) (citing 44 C.Fft- pt 6), App. A(l), Art, V11(J)).10

American Bankers argues, among othet things, that dismissal of this action is wairanted 

plaintiffs “readily admit in the Second Amended Complaint that they id not comply 

wilh the statutory Proof of Loss requirement of that SFIP,” which is a “statutory condition

precedent to any lawsuit under the NFF' that American Bankers cannot waive without the 

written consent of tire Federal Insurance Administrator. Mat 3,10-14. American Bankers

argues:

The (Plaintiffs] make many excuses about why they did not 
fnmpW. any Proof of Loss in the Second Amended Compliant, 
and noire of them succeed as a matter of law. The [Plaintiffs] 
allege generally that they trusted Defendants to complete one for
diem. 'nreyalsoadmitthaititeyrcluscdtosigntheProofofLoss
provided to them because they believed their house was valued too 
low. None of titese “reasons" survive the governing law and 
precedent requiring them to submit timely Proofs of Loss on their 
own if they had disagreed wi* w1*1 AeSrWY0 provided to than 
as a matter of “courtesy only.”

Id. at 12-13 (citing tkmkrns y. Witt, 318 F3d 606,612 (4th Cir, 2003))-

Although American Bankers recognizes feat “the result of the [Plaintiffe'] Mure to file a 

timely Proof of Loss may seem to lead to a harsh result," American Bankas agues that “this

ll! In its Motion to Dismiss, American Bankers notes that the Federal insurance

signed and sworn Proof of Loss form. 1<L
io
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Id. at 14Proof of Loss requirement is strictly construed and as insured must folly comply.

(citing i/arris v. Sate Farm Fire it Cal Co., No. 4:05cv5,2006 WL 73602, at *9 (ED. Va. Jan. 

11,2006)).

In their response to flic pending rtUrnksal motions, Plaintiffs admit that they did not file 

timely Proof of Loss fottns, as required by flic SKIP. See Mot. Quash at 9-10,13-18, ECF 

No. 62. However, Plaintiffs appear to argue flat: (i) Defendants intentionally provided 

Plaintiffs with “courtesy” Proof of Loss forms that contained inaccurate information, and

submission deadline. Id

As noted, the SF1P specifically provides that although an insurance adjuster “may foroish

“this is a matter of courtesy only,” and the insured must personally ensure that a proof of loss 

form is timely submitted. 44 C.FJL pi 61, App. A(l), Art V1!(J)(7); see also Cmr v. 

Famm Ms. Co, 736 FJd 768,775 (8th Cir. 2013) (finding that insureds were “not bound by 

the in the adjuster’s report, but rather were obligated to claim the amount of los they 

believed they should recover”). Here, Plaintiffs did not tunely submit Proof of Loss forms with 

respat to te flood-related expenses." Because Plaintiffs did not comply with this

» The Court notes that Plaintiffs allege that Defendants acted in bad forth star they 
provided Plaintiffs with “courtesy" Proof of Loss forms that, according to PiaintifMsdervalued

equitably estopped from raising thedefense of Mure to submit timely Proof of Loss forms, fls 
Court finds that such argument foils. To establish the applicability of equitable estoppel raider 
these circumstances, Plaintiffs “must not only satisfy fee traditional requirements 
estoppel, but also they must show affirmative misconduct” on the part of Defendants. Dmh** u 
iPifl, 318 F.3d 606,611-12 (4lh Cir. 2003). The traditional requirements of equitable estoppel 
involve a showing that:



Case 4:i7-cv-OOllO-AWA-Of;M Document 69 Red 07/25/19 Pagel2ofl9PagelD#1447

precondition to recovery, Plaintiffs cannot collect on tbeirpoiicy-based claims.1’

Plaintiffs’ Second Amended Complaint contains references to due process violations, 

discrimination, and 42 U.S.C. § 1983, suggesting an intent to raise constitutional-based clams. 

See Second Am. Comp!, at 8-9, 17-20. America Bankers argues that any intended 

constitutional claims fail to meet the requisite pleading standards. See Mem. Supp. American 

Bankers’ Mot. Dismiss at 17-19. American Bankers states: “[Plaintiffs] baldly assert that

(1) the party to be estopped knew the true feds; (2) the party to be 
estopped intended for his conduct to be acted upon or acted in such a 
way that (he party asserting estoppel had a right to believe that it was 
intended; (3) the patty claming estoppel was ignorant of the true 
fects; and (4) the misconduct was relied upon to the detriment of the 
parties seeking estoppel.

Id. at 611 n.6 (citing McCrary v. FIMA, 642 F. Supp, 544.547 (E.D.N.C. 1986); United Stales v, 
Mi Atm of Land, 598 F. Supp. 282,286 (&.D.N.C. 1984)).

The Court finds flat Plaintiffs have not established the applicability of the above elements, 
or (hat Defendants engaged in affirmative misconduct Even assuming that Defendants 
intentionally undervalued Plaintiffs’ property in the courtesy Proof of Loss forms, Plaintiffs “were 
obligated to exercise their own judgment in completing their proofs of loss, and they were free at 
all times to reject the adjusters’ assistance.” Howell». Slate Farm Ins. Co, 540 F. Supp. 2d 621, 
631-32 (D. Md. Mar. 26,2008). Under these circumstances, the Court finds that the application 
of equitable estoppel is unwarranted.

11 American Bankers also argues that even if Plaintiffs had timely filed Proof of Loss 
forms, portions of Plaintiffs’ request for damages - namely their request for $10,000.00 for the 
denial of "emergency assistance” and $200,000.00 for “elevation costs” - would nevertheless fail. 
Mem. Supp. American Bankets’ Mol Dismiss at 15-17, ECF No. 57; see also Second Am. 
Compl. at 30-31, ECF No. 46. American Bankers first argues that “(tjhe SRIP only covers direct 
physical loss by or from flood,” and docs not provide for “emergency assistance.” Mem. Supp. 
American Bankers’ Mol Dismiss at 15-16, Additionally, American Bankers argues that “the 
SFIP provides limited coverage for elevation” in “strictly limited circumstances,” W et 16. For 
example, the SFIP requires that an insured seeking elevation coverage show that the home is a 
“repetitive loss structure,” and that the community has a “substantia! damage provision or 
repetitive loss provision in hs floodplain management law or ordinance being enforced against 
the home. Id. (emphasis in original) (citing 44 C.F.R. pt 61, App. A(l), Art. (flf)(D)(3)). 
American Bankera argues that Plaintiffs have not established such circumstances. The Court 
agrees. The Court finds that Plaintiffs request for “emergency assistance” and “elevation costs” 
would fail regardless of the Proof of Loss issues addressed above.

12
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Antoican Bankas sent a discriminatory adjuster to that ten*, who undervalued their home 

because they had pictures of politicians from both major political parties on their wail and they 

are a mixed-nee couple." li at 17. However, American Bankers argues that: (i) “lt]hm are 

no fats to substantiate [Plaintiffs’] claims;” fti) “[Plaintiffs'] claims are limited to their 

discontent with the valuation of their home and their lack of compensation for their alleged 

losses;" (in) Plaintifc' belief regarding the discriminatory intent behind the alleged 

undervaluation is mete speculation; and ftv) Plaintiffs’ speculative and conclusory allegations of 

discrimination, without factual support, “ait insufficient to withstand Twmblyllqhal pleading 

standards." Mat 17-19.

Upon review of Plaintiffs' Second Amended Complaint, American Bankers arguments 

for dismissal, and Plaintiffs’ responses thereto, the Court finds that Plaintiffs; (i) fail to 

adequately specify the constitutions! claims that they seel to assert against Defendants; and 

(ii)do not allege sufficient facts to state any constitutional claim against Defendants. 

See Second Am. Compl. at 8-9,17-20.

With respect to Plaintiffs’ remaining claims, American Bankers argues:

Lastly, [Plaintiffs] assert a scries of additional ejctra-contrattual
and/or state law claims, all of which are preempted by federal law 
and should be dismissed as a matter of law. The SFIP was 
written by the United States Government, pursuant to 42 U.S.C.
§4013, and may be found in its entirety at 44 C.F.R. Pt, 61.
App. A(l). The SFIP contains a choice of law provision that 
expressly states that SFIP disputes are governed exclusively by 
federal regulation, the NflA [and] Federal common law, and 
courts have repeatedly held that state law claims are completely 
preempted.

Additionally, neither the NFIA nor the SFIP authorize 
policyholders such as [Plaintiffs] to bring exira-contiactua! claims 
swipet a WYO company, such as American Bankers. Absent 
arch authorization by the NFIA or the SFIP, extra-contractual
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claims cannot succeed against a WYO company. Congress has 
legated that the remedy for an insured unite the NFIP to contest 
Spod loss determinations is limited to a breach of contract causa of 
action for breach of the SF1P. Since neither the NFIA nor the 
SFIP authorize policyholders, such as [Plaintiffs], to bring 
extraconhactual claims, [Plaintiffs’] extra-contractual clams feil 
as a matter of law and should be dismissed.

Mem. Supp. American Bankers’ Mot Dismiss at 19-20 (citing Wright v. Allstate M Co., 500 

F.3d 390,398 {5th Cir. 2007); 44 CJLR, pt, 61, App. A(l), Art. VH(R)).

Although Plaintiffs’ Second Amended Complaint is difficult to decipher, Plaintiffs’ 

claims are cleriy based on Defendants’ Ming ofPlaMffs’ flood damage claims. As noted,

lute

>r®a£ ^r0In S'8 handling of any claim under the policy are governed exclusively by the flood 

insurance regulations issued by FEMA, tbs National Rood Insurance Act of 1968, as amended 

(42 US.C. § 4001, et seq.), and Federal common law.” 44 CM, pt 61, App. A(l), Art. IX 

(emphasis added); see also Woodson, 855 F.3d at 631, 637 (stating tbai “[i]t is not surprising, 

therefore, dial every other circuit to have considered this issue has concluded that state-law 

claims against writc-your-own insurance pmvidets are preempted by federal law"); Bav'is v. 

Naliomide Mm. fire Ins Co.. 783 F. Simp. 2d 825,832 (E.D. Va. 2011) (staling that “it is clear

handling in the flood insurance context"), Additionally, courts have explained that “nowhere in 

the NFIA or the SFIP does Congress explicitly reference any right of a policyholder to bring 

extra-contractual claims against a WYO insurer.” Slay's Restoration, LLC v. Wright Hat'l 

flood Ins. Co., 226 F. Sip. 3d 589,598 (ED. Va. 2017) (citation omitted).

14
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AroBdingly, fig Court finds that Plsinfifis’ remaining claims fail as a mate of law. 

For the reasons set foifii above, American Bankas’ Motion (o Dismiss, ECF No. 56, is 

GRANTED.

D. Cunningham Lindsey's Motion to Dismiss

In its Motion to Dismiss, Cunningham Lindsey argues in part that: (Q Plaintifife’ NF1A 

claim against Cunningham Undscy foils because Plaintiffs failed to file Proof of Loss forms, as 

required by fee insurance policy; (ii) Plaintiffs' txm-NFlA clams are preempted under the NFIA; 

ffld (iii) Plaintiffs’ non-NF!A claims foil to state a claim upon which relief may be granted. 

See Mem. Supp. Cunningham Lindsey’s Met Dismiss at 9-17, ECF No. 59.

In granting American Bankers’ Morion to Disniss above, the Court determined that; 

(i) Plaintiffs cannot collect on their policy-based claims because they did not submit Proof of 

Loss forms for their flood-related expenses; and (ii) Plaintiffs’ state law claims and 

extra-contractual claims are preempted and/or otherwise foil as a matter of law. See supra 

Part I1I.C. Based on these determinations, Cunningham Lindsey’s motion, which asserts 

similar argumoils for dismissal, is well-taken. Accordingly, Cunningham Lindsey’s Motion to 

Dismiss, ECF No. 58, is GRANTED.11

E.

Plaintiffs’ Second Amended Complaint foils to clearly identify the role played by GE1CO 

in connection with Plaintiffs’ flood damage claims. However, the September 2016 Proof of 

Loss Form and the October 2016 Proof of Loss Font), which are attached a exhibits to foe

11 Because the Court determines that dianissal of this action against Cunningham Lindsey 
is warranted fra die reasons set forth above, foe Court need not address other arguments raised by 
Cimmngham Lindsey in its Motion to Dismiss. See Mem. Supp. Cunningham Lindsey's Mot. 
Dismissal 12-17,ECF No. 59.

u
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Second Amended Complaint, identify GEICO as the “agent,” See Sept. 2016 Proof loss at 1, 

ECF No. 46-2; Od. 2016 Proof Loss at l, ECF No. 46-1. Additionally, GEICO acknowledges 

fot purposes of its Motion to Dismiss “flat it was die insurance agency thro# which Plaintiffs 

patted the American Bankets flood insurance policy.’’ Mem. Stipp. GEICO’s Mot. Dismiss 

at 2 at, BCF No. 55.

GEICO argues that its dismissal is warranted because “the Second Amended Complaint 

fails to provide a set of facts that establish a claim for relief against GEICO.’’ Id. at 4. 

Specifically, GEICO argues:

He plaintiffs bare their claim on their dissatisfaction with the 
handling of two flood claims. However, they make only 
conclnsory statements that GEICO is legally responsible for the 
alleged improper handling of these claims. The plaintiffs have 
not alleged any feds which even suggest that GEICO had any 
responsibility for the handling of the claims or did anything or 
failed to do anything with respect to the processing of adjusting of 
the chums.

Id. at 4-5.

GEICO finite argues that although Plaintiffs generally “allege that the '(Djefendants’ or 

‘all [Djefendants' took certain actions,” “[sjuch generic, bare allegations are insufficient to 

establish that GEICO played a role in handling the claims.” Id. at 5.

With respect to the specific causes of action that Plaintiffs appear to assert in tins action, 

GEICO argues that

• Plaintiffs’ “breach of contract claim is insufficient because ft lacks 
facts to establish that GEICO owed any such contractual duty to 
the [Pjtaintifls or brcackd any such duty;"

* Plaintiffs cannot establish a “bad faith” clam against GEICO 
“because as an insurance agency - not an insurer - it had no 
contractual obligation to pay (he [Pjlaintiffs;”

16
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• Plaintiffs have alleged insufficient facts to show that GGICO can 
be vicariously liable for die alleged Wrongdoings of other 
Defendants baaed on a “principal-agent relationship" or 
“pareat-subsidiajy relationship" between GEICO and the other 
Defendants;

• Plaintiffs have not stated a claim against GEICO under RUPA14 
because Plaintiffs allege “no facts to support an allegation that 
GEICO formed a partnership with either or both of the other 
[DJefcndams, or that the other [Defendants’ acts were done in 
furtherance of any such partnership;'

• Plaintiffs have not stated a claim for a constitutional violation 
against GEICO under 42 U.S.C. § 1983 because Plaintiffs have not 
"dcmonstratefdj foots which establish that GEICO acted under 
color of state law"

• Plaintiffs cannot state a claim against GEICO for a constitutional 
violation because “GEICO is a private entity,” and Plaintiffs have 
not alleged facts to establish the application of “one of the 
exceptions to foe state action doctrine;"

• the Virginia statutes referenced by Plaintiffs in their Second 
Amended Complaint “do not relate to foe basis of foe suit;” and

• Plaintiffs cannot state a claim against GEICO under foe 
McCatian-Ferguson Act15 because “the Act involves the

14 Plaintiffs argue that Defendants are “equally [rjesponsible” for foe wrongdoings alleged 
in their Second Amended Complaint pursuant to RUPA, a uniform act that las been adopted by foe 
majority of foe states. Scoond Am. CompL 8t 20-21, ECF No. 46. Plaintiff's appear to allege foal 
the Virginia and Maryland versions of RUPA apply. Id. However, the Virginia and Maryland 
statutes both define a "partnership" as “an association of two or more persons to carry on as 
co-ownets a business for profit.” Va. Code § 50-73.79; Md. Code § 9A-10i(i). Plaintiffs have 
inadequately alleged in their Second Amended Complaint that Defendants’ relationship meets tins 
definition.

15 The McCsnan-Feiguson Act “provides that federal law shall not be construed to 
preempt state law enacted for foe puipose of regulating tire business of insurance unless foe 
federal b* itself specifically relates to foe basiness of insurance.” femon v. Fed Im. PM >, 
633 F lid 1119,1122 (5fo Cir, 1981) (emphasis added). With reject to claims of loss covered by 
a SFIP issued pursuant to foe NF1A, courts have explained that “foe McCarran-Ferguson Act's 
savings clause does not preclude foe application of foe provisions of foe [NF1A]” to such claims 
because Congress, forough foe enactment of foe NFIA, has expressly authorized FEMA “to 
regulate the business of flood insurance.” Masoner v. Fini Cmty. 1m. Co, 81F. Sapp. 2d 1052, 
1057 n.3 (D. Idaho 2000). Therefore, to the extent Plaintiffs intended to argue that, based on foe

17u
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relationship between state insurance regulations and federal law, 
(and) dots not address anything regarding flit handling of claims,"

W. at 6-14.

As already addressed, a motion to dismiss under Rule 12(bX6) &ould be granted if a 

complaint fails to “allege facts tostate a chum to relief that is plausible on its face.” Bell Mi 

Corp. v. Twoably, 550 U.S. 544, 570 (2007). After review of Plaintiffs’ Second Amended 

Complaiiit, GEICO’s arguments for dismissal, and Plaintiffs’ responses thereto, the Court finds 

that Plaintiffs lave alleged facts involving GHCO that are insufficient to state any plausible 

claim for relief against GEICO, Accordingly, GEICO’s Motion to Dismiss, ECF No. 54, is 

GRANTED.

IV. Conclusion

For the reasons set forth above, Plaintiffs’ Motion to Quash, ECF No. 62, is 

DISMISSED; American Bankers’ Motion to Dismiss, ECF No. 56, is GRANTED; Cunningham 

liwfsey’s Motion to Dismiss, ECF No. 58, is GRANTED; and GElCO's Motion to Dismiss, 

ECF No. 54, is GRANTED.

Plaintiffs may appeal this Dismissal Order by forwarding a written notice of appeal to the 

Clerk of the United Sates District Court, Newport News Division, 2400 West Avenue, Newport 

News, Virginia 23607. The written notice must be lamed by the Clerk within thirty days from 

the date of the entry of this Dismissal Order. If Plaintiffs wish to proceed in forma pauperis on 

appeal, the application to proceed in form pauperis shall be submitted to the Clerk of the United 

States District Court, Newport News Division, 2403 West Avenue, Newport News, Virginia

23687.

MeCanan-Faguson Act, their flood-related claims should be governed by state law, such 
argument fails.

/"18
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The Clerk is DIRECTED to send a copy of this Dismissal Order to Plaintiffs and counsel 

for Defendants.

IT IS SO ORDERED. / \
Ckd*s/

Arenda ll-Wrighl-Allcn 
United Slates District Judge

Norfolk, Virginia
t//-1

2019
1if

IQ
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Aloha Liza. Jim and I love Lauryn 
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show off to my Relatives how they 
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Jul 11,201611:26 PMt/
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Inquiry Form
VIRGINIA STATE BAR
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VIRGINIA STATE BAR

intake office
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fatani Vigiiia B2IMS6S 

lAAipfiww (E»5) 775-0570

NOTE Told ’o fo foNN A jsu haw oncftre ttoul a lawyaS corrfya TEw vttJti <NgM i»A m 
(fsapli« s 6* U*jk E )oj sf sceWrg sjeneadis jgjfcs it tez/ytt )sw raf wed s> s«k leral 
ahitA Aon A taftyw R pd«? pauitf. ASA tbr bo muj (sqiAs yw fufllw jnvcFwneK fe im fargovi-

Ife «»v ,Misi .MtTOUR
NAME: Joyce___ .. -------1®~“— - fiw*UU
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< 7S7> 265-7764
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NAME:

fpnklin .Jenkins
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jpwf*sst3 or m. toi
Chesapeake
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Isv/K's'^fphro to
1757) 399^7683

.23.32jL_VA
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LAWYER'S ACimS COWPtAlNED OF:

Needs Virginia Shat1 Bar tn atop aairi; *Prand on i-ho Cfturf" in t-he __ ___

interest anrf prrvfrprHrm nf .TnaHrpf Virginia fYmcfrifrutrinfl, Tjiv

Student Peeking the Bar and fhp Rule 06 T.flb? and our ftrenrihahy ftgfcate*.

Our firanrihatyy faVen for ray Hnfthanrf and myself on 7/?fl/?M6f pnt ir.frn
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SffiNATURE: Joyeft-Beggs, DATE: 5/26/2017.

FORM MUST BE SIGNED AND DATED
Turn thb fern «sr for mprc mftrtnatkin vr* rood from you to •atfyn your inquiry,
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LAWS'S ACTIONS COMPLAINED Of (mtmutd)

King and Said Jenkins-Franklln are destroyed behind their back vith

Substitute Judge, then take advantage of the Substitute. Moreinprotantly
does cot care about our GrandBay nedicel information. "just her Estate"
and paying her Attorney friends end Court Appointed Guardian »d Litem King

involved in JDRD cases of Lauryn Beggs now in Virginia Circuit Court.

Said Serious Medical needs of Lauryn Beggs, Positional Plagiocephaly,

Conjunctivitis, and Constipation Pediatric, Torticollis, Gastroesophageal 
Reflux Disease, Dermatitis, Severe Acid Reflex which cases her

Coughing/Choking Symptoms * I Bade ay concerns to Said Attorneys1 vent

unnoticed because said, Attorneys, Medical records shows my son as the
real caregiver who gave us the baby. This estoppel actions and
Conflicts of Interest has taken our Grandbaby from us with on Joint

Custody, and no Physical Custody vith unfair Visitation. Paulette
Jenkin-franklin Fraud on the Court has caused Conflict of interest and 
caused aa to be late for ay. appeal because 6he denied me the right to have
our Crandbaby seen at Langly Air Force Base to address her medical

problems, not her client The other Grandma, and took our Constitutional

Using GAL to mislead the Courts thanRight's of Due Process from me.

request that they are paid from our Grandbaby Estate, Should be a
criminal Act. Vie feel strongly that Jenkin6-Franklin know that our son

is Virginia first case of a Battered man and want to use up all the Baby 
money before bis trial. We must be the first Military Family not to have 
rights under the Virginia and 0 S Constitution the Beggs family has 
defended since 1944. We are not able to get Circuit Court Judge to look

at the clear and Convince evident we have today S,26, 2017. Said
unchecked Cruel and Unusual treatment by Jenkin-Franklin which caused a

Court Appointed Guardian Ad Litem Cynthia A. King unchecked Powers to

destroy us and our Reputation to find an Attorney, has the same powers t< 
destroy Judges in Virginia Beach Court System who do not Rule in front of



*

UWES'S ACTIONS COMPLAINED 0 (ittitilHied)

with said Fraud on the Court, tie can not protect our Crandbaby______

Financial Assistance. nor her Estate to pay for Private Schooling {College_

education. Starting with Preschool at the age of 3 1/2 years of age at 
the Historical Catholic school at "St Mary's Start of the Sea Elementary

School* in the Historical Phoehus section of Hampton Virginia, up to______

Attending the College of Williams and Mary with the total of over______

Said Educational Funds from169,000.00 from preschool to college.

Lauryn's Beoos Estate should be placed in protected trust with the

signatures of all Grandparents of said Case in the protection of said 
Infant, future educational needs._pursuant to 64.2-1800. Custody, care.

Please investigate our______

Grandbaby Estate to see how much money said attorney abused, help us stop 
these abuses of Court.

and education of ward; ward’s estate.

We can not even protect our son nor Grandbaby.

We can to not address other problems uith her health like dark veins in
her eyes are being addressed by all said Grandparents. BE are a good

Military Family end has been discriminated against, because we are

Christians, and was trying to trust everyone for fundamental fairness.
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Appendix 10
AFFIDAVIT OFSHWlCE

job:County:Court
SuprerwCouitofVi^nia

Case
3V357&7VA

Pontiff) ft&oner.
James Bqgs ana Joyce feggs
Rsstadty:
Scab Resources

Defendant/Responders 
fewty Story
for.
loyttBcgs

To be served upon;
Honorable (stain ft. ___________________

{Donald 5kr,n?r. b? in* duly *m, depose and Of. I am ewrtfte age of »8 yert pad not a party10 *a»n. tteiisfchio the
boundaries of t?V5 sate where ssw* was effected, I was&Jttanraj by few to rti&e sewce of The documents and informed said person of 
thcePhlcntvhtfefc

fcwpicm Name / Addrrt.S ttonordiif Glenn R. Crash*#, Chief judge. #2$ WEftrno Pfcwy, Virginia Besth, VA 23*556 
Manner of Service Authorized, f«b &2019,21)1 pm nst

WHiofMwttews • 39 Pj^ Writ of Mandamus Verizon • 2 pagesOMufflems

Adtfi&ns; Comment?
J) Successful Imtft h6 25.20*9,351 pm t$? si ?.&* «unmo flany. V«gp* ftuh, VA a&6 received try Honorable (Stem Jt bashaw,
thief judge. Other: Judge Grtuit Court forth? 6ty bfVft^w
8'andi Untf, Judges Office, accepted service for Honorable Glenn fi. Crcshan. thief judge

Jwrf'ffntfijsMififrfii s(‘afangifiot
B&aiwn» J(A/»

penisy 3^2019
CateOor.ald Sinner 

DCjSSMJa® fWfeiyAuMc 
(tbrjayK,»«

tf?ChB?»?tP5
f.O.HHfti
Vifpni.' Hfarh. VA 2i£S7 
757-3B53353

temmlslffl) ExpiresDate

vasctH-w***
liOTAAf PiJoLtC

(Vtrwnr^aTU-. Vrr}*r^l
««. «i?£* . ,r 

CKSSSWtxp.P
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Appendix 11

AFFIOAVfl OF SERVICE

Job:County:Court
Supreme Coon of Virgnia:«2» 3«S73>7VA

Defendant t Respondent: 
BWfiy Stoty

Pls&rtfT / Rttttonen 
james-Beggs and Joyce fleggt

for.Reamed by: 
Beach Resources Joyce Bc®>

To b« carved upon:
Honorable Gkftn n.Ooshiftv. Chu*! Judgr

t Donald Skinner. Sw?, duly warn, depot* end say. I am owr theajeo'Tj years pod nor a puny to thw oaten, and Chat wiAh tfw 
boundaries of 6*e sir.* wtw serwer w*$ effaced. I was aaitowed by in* to make senfife of the documents and informed sal4 petiori of 
the contents herein

Recipient Nans* 1 Address Honorable Oerm ft <no*iaw. thief judge. 24»ffewr»5>P*wy. Vicprfia Beach, v* 23*?.:
Authorized. Fefe 25. 2019. «n pmf.TT
WhtofWUndOTTvs • .39 Paget. Writ of Mandamusvetifiawron -2 p««.

Manner of Service: 
Documents:

Additional Comments. 
DSuaessfu' Attempt: Feb K. 7011*05 pm fST at ?AE> temmo Pkwy. Vfr^hi* Bwtfv va .-3C* received by Honorable Gfenn R. Crash**.

0:het:iuafieCircu!J Court ferine C?®> of Vwjornfl ReArtt,1
Office. occopted service for Ht>hb-irbV* Gbnn ft. croshanf. Chief Judge

Owrt judge, 
ft-and. l ittle. Judges

Uibvf bee end -worn to 0*4 ■» r^tAiffr ajjtc. 
«H»drWaft*#wi if I !'aihl'itlijf■b.mt

^Donald Skinner Cate
aC/ifKM7463:

ftAm
Ndtary Public 
f'efcrjary 2& 2019 Jun? 30.2020

Com nVrsskm expiresXiiicba»ro««f} 
PABCM-TW 
Wrpnia heath. VA lirS t 
7S7-?oM3t<

Date

*+>* vs;;«^sr
/\e/\ iwiwoovK-oitholVireJ'WS
WSW *W.*5»J2CH

.--S—, CopWKSttOtAT-Vi'U/T320
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Appendix 12

City of V irgima Beach

""MS

t-j 7t>

«>*&?*. l.TtSm

Oadw&JM*

Via Maid-Dflivw hv U:\GK01if
Pisricia L llsfrinplmt CM 
Supow C«n of Virginia 
Snjttmt Cool (tending 
tog.Nrsifc Stisrt, 5* floor 
WttesoaiiVifgiitB 51211)

Rc; Jtiieitfgst, rid v. fadffili Jri&fcFmMkdto PtetmeD, Jenkins 

f.iwri No, I80&37
ttd

Dca Ms Usifiitpw.

IVswot l.o the Court's Oaohe 9, ,3018 Qrior, enclosed picas fial a MflKn u> Dismiss 
MW for Writ of Msadamw sad McnncmdiBi of la* k SappM-1 JtsposMi}’ iqpxt dm 
Ik enclosed kfitaJ™ Waif ofRepondenl GniHiinw Oiteiftoly-Cuivimfisi) a fee W 
cftptiof»d tnaia.

TTiait yon for your oumtsy *ad refeHnx.

Sincerely.

Kathleen Ktlfe 
AxdmiQiyJnemy

Enelusirc
cc iovee and fames Begs, prow

lori A. Butts, tsq.
Cviiiiia Swig. Esc,
(Wide feAMeArias, B»,. 
Deborah PtfrdI (via eniiffi 
May Bream (vis email)
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Appendix 12 £
VIRGINIA: IN THE SUPREME COURT Of VIRGINIA

Janes Beggs, el el.. )
)

Petitiimeis, )
>
} Record No. 1*0637v.
)

Paulette D. Jerkins-Pranklm, n*/a ) 
Paulette D. Jenkins, i‘t a/., )

)
Respondents. )

RESPONDENT DOUGHERTY-ClINNlNGHAM’S MOTION TO 
D1SMI5SPETITK)N FOR WITOF MANDAMUS AND MEMORANDUM 

OF LAWIN SUPPORT

Ms* 0- Stiles (VSB No. 30683}
Christopher S, Boynton (V® No, 38501)
Kathleen Keflcr(V$B No. 86298)
OFFICE OF THE CITY ATTORNEY 
CITY OF VIRGINIA BEACH 
2401 Courthouse Drive, Suite 260 
Virginia Beach, Virginia 23456 
(757)385-4531 (telephone)
(757) 385-5687 (6x) 
kl-effet@vbgov.com
Camel for Respondent Chrijtima Dougherty-Crnningham

mailto:kl-effet@vbgov.com
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Appendix 13
“Kept away from Judge “no Signature”

Petitioner Motion for a Restraining Order Case 
Against Officer of the Court Attorney Paulette D. Jenkins- 

Franklin No: CL 16-467 Virginia Supreme Court No: 
190102

Virginia: IN THE CIRCUIT COURT FOR THE 
CITY OF VIRGINIA BEACH 
IN RE: Appointment of Guardian of Person & 
Estate of Lauryn Beggs, a Minor 
James Beggs Paternal Grandfather 

Joyce Beggs Paternal Grandmother 
Beverly Story, Maternal Grandmother
Vs

CASE NO CL 16-4672 
Restraining Order

This cause to be heard upon Motion to Gran(t) a 
Restringing Order to Protect Federal Military 
Records of James Beggs and his son Cornelius 
Beggs from the hands and eyes of Paulette D. 
Franklin Officer of the Court in her New 
Employment at the U S Department of Defense. 
In the interest of Department of Homeland 
Security, and Federal Protection over Military 
Records. It is hereby ADJUGE, ORDERED, and 
DECREED moving the Courts to Motion Gran(t)
A Restringing Order to Protect Federal Military 
Records of James Beggs and his son Cornelius 
Beggs from the hands and eyes of Paulette D. 
Jenkins Franklins Officer of the Court in her 
New Employment at the U. S. Department of 
Defense, in the interest of Department of 
Homeland Security, and Federal Protection over 
Said Military Records by_______________

Lauryn Beggs


